

# Huntingdon West Area Action Plan Adopted 2011







# Contents

	Foreword	i
1	Introduction	1
2	Policy Context	2
3	Area Context	3
4	Vision	6
5	Objectives	8
6	Sustainable Travel	10
7	Vibrant Growth	14
8	Healthy and Green	26
9	High Quality Environment	30
10	Infrastructure, Phasing and Implementation	31
11	Monitoring	33
	Appendices	
1	Infrastructure Requirements	36
2	Potential Phasing	39
3	Saved Policies to be Superseded	41
4	Proposals Maps	42
	Glossary	45

# Contents

Maps	S	
	Map 1 The Action Plan Area	5
	Map 2 The Vision	7
	Map 4 Pedestrian and Cycle Links	12
	Map 6a George Street / Ermine Street - Existing Land Uses	16
	Map 6b George Street / Ermine Street - Townscape Analysis	17
	Map 6c George Street / Ermine Street - Planning Constraints	18
	Map 6d George Street / Ermine Street - Land Parcels	19
	Map 6e George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses	20
	Map 7a Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Existing Land Uses	22
	Map 7b Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Townscape Analysis	23
	Map 7c Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Planning Constraints	24
	Map 7d Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Land Use Proposals	25
	Map 8 Hinchingbrooke Country Park	27

# Contents

## Foreword

### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

## Foreword

The area covered in this action plan will face significant change over the next 15 years. This is seen in the approved proposal to create a new West of Town Centre Link Road. The Council has long recognised that a plan is needed to ensure that development takes place in a manner which will benefit the existing town centre and the district as a whole. Although the recession has had an impact, our belief in the importance of this area for sustainable development is undiminished.

This plan sets out a vision for the area which is vibrant, easy to get around, modern yet respectful of the environment. The vision is followed by objectives and policies which will guide development. Monitoring proposals together with infrastructure and phasing details are also included.



Councillor Douglas Dew Executive Councillor for Planning Strategy and Transport

# Foreword

## **Introduction 1**

### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

## **1** Introduction

**1.1** The area action plan covers approximately 300 hectares of land west of Huntingdon's town centre. Of this, some 20 hectares is land between the town centre and the railway line and includes the Huntingdon Railway Station. The remaining land extends west to encompass the Hinchingbrooke area. The Huntingdon West Area Action Plan is an area where significant change is expected. It will help deliver planned growth, stimulate regeneration, protect areas particularly sensitive to change, and resolve potentially conflicting objectives in this area.

**1.2** Supporting information can be found in the Statement of Consultation. This details how the plan was prepared and the community engagement which took place. It also lists documents which provide information supporting the plan and includes assessments on soundness and legal compliance as required by the Planning Inspectorate.

#### Appraisal and Assessment of the Area Action Plan

**1.3** A Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) has been carried out by consultants in accordance with Articles 6(3) and 6(4) of the Habitats Directive (European Council Directive 92/43/EEC). This assessment considers the potential effects of the area action plan on the objectives and integrity of specific sites identified for their importance to conservation. The first stage is a scoping assessment that determines whether significant effects are likely. Where this scoping assessment cannot rule out significant effects, then a full Appropriate Assessment is required which suggests mitigation measures to help reduce the potential effects of policies and proposals. The HRA was completed in October 2009 and concluded that a number of minor adverse impacts on European sites are predicted, however if the recommendations for avoidance and mitigation contained in the assessment are conscientiously followed, the Huntingdon West AAP will not have an adverse effect on European sites.

**1.4** A sustainability appraisal (SA) has been carried out. This assesses policies in order to judge their potential effects. The SA is an important part of plan development to ensure that the final plan promotes sustainable growth. A strategic environmental assessment (SEA) is also required and for the purposes of the area action plan is incorporated into the SA process. A sustainability appraisal report has been produced for each stage of plan development and has been an integral part of producing the

preferred approach. A final SA has been prepared for this document and is available alongside this document. The final SA notes the changes which have been made since the Preferred Approach stage and concludes that the plan will lead to sustainable development.

**1.5** Equalities assessment has been carried out and can be found in the final SA document. The process of preparing the plan has been undertaken in accordance with all the relevant documents. The area action plan addresses some key equality issues in that it seeks development in a manner which promotes inclusive and cohesive communities.

# 2 Policy Context

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

# **2 Policy Context**

### **East of England Plan**

**2.1** The East of England Plan (EEP) is the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) for the Eastern Region. It was published in May 2008 and sets the regional framework for preparation of local development documents. This area action plan is a development plan document (DPD) that will form part of the Huntingdonshire local development framework (LDF) and as such must be in conformity with the EEP.

**2.2** The EEP sets specific targets and policy requirements. It requires Huntingdonshire to deliver a minimum of 11,200 homes in the period 2001 – 2021, and provide a share of 75,000 new jobs for Cambridgeshire over the same period. The EEP also sets out a number of policies which seek to secure sustainable development.

#### Sustainable Community Strategy

**2.3** The Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) for Huntingdonshire, developed by the Huntingdonshire Strategic Partnership, uses six strategic themes: growth and infrastructure; health and well-being; inclusive, safe and cohesive communities; economic prosperity; environment; and children and young people. This area action plan will serve to help meet the SCS vision and contribute towards meeting a number of the spatial outcomes it identifies.

#### **Core Strategy**

**2.4** The Core Strategy sets the strategic spatial planning framework for how Huntingdonshire will develop to 2026. Its vision, objectives and strategic policies are overarching and form the basis for the whole LDF. The Core Strategy was adopted by Huntingdonshire District Council in September 2009. The Core Strategy sets the plan period for the LDF.

**2.5** The Huntingdon West area action plan is identified in the Core Strategy as being important in helping to achieve the requirements of the EEP and the Core Strategy. The area is seen as particularly important in achieving housing, employment and retail targets and meeting objectives for redeveloping previously developed land, enhancing strategic green infrastructure and encouraging sustainable travel.

#### **Other Development Plan Policies**

**2.6** This area action plan forms part of the Development Plan which encompasses all planning policies affecting the district. The policies in this area action plan must be read in conjunction with all other policies of the Development Plan that are relevant. For development proposals within the area covered by this area action plan, relevant Development Plan policies will principally be contained in the Core Strategy and Development Management DPD.

## Area Context 3

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

## **3 Area Context**

#### The Area

**3.1** The Huntingdon West area is situated to the west of the town centre and is defined by the A14, Huntingdon's inner ring road, Ermine Street up to the railway, George Street and its continuation along Brampton Road and Thrapston Road. It also includes the station area, the former station cottages and a small part of Mill Common. Huntingdon's principal housing and employment areas lie to the north and the town centre lies to the east. Open countryside and Huntingdon Racecourse lie to the west and the water meadows, river and the main part of the village of Brampton lie to the south.

**3.2** The area is diverse in character. It contains: the older industrial area with associated Victorian housing close to the town centre and the railway line; vestiges of the parkland setting around Hinchingbrooke House now containing the secondary school, headquarter buildings and the hospital, new housing and employment areas built on former agricultural land; former gravel workings now part of Hinchingbrooke Country Park; Views Common; and mixed agricultural land fringing the village of Brampton and the A14.

#### History

**3.3** Huntingdon, lying on the north bank of the River Great Ouse, has had settlement since pre-historic times. It was founded by the Anglo Saxons and Danes in medieval times along the approximate line of the Roman road (Ermine Street). Extensive Common land was established around the town in the medieval period and this is still a feature today.

**3.4** The origins of Hinchingbrooke House to the west of the town centre are medieval. A priory of Benedictine nuns occupied the site and there are some medieval remnants in the house. The grounds were given to the Cromwell family during the dissolution of the monasteries and subsequently owned by the Montagu family, who became the Earls of Sandwich after the Restoration, before becoming publicly owned. Hinchingbrooke House is Grade I listed and the immediate gardens are also of regional and national importance.

**3.5** The railway opened in Huntingdon in 1830 and attracted industry to the area close to the railway station, including carriage works, foundries and other trades. The area around St John's Street and Sayer Street retains houses from the late 19<sup>th</sup> century which are likely to have originally housed local workers.

**3.6** The Hinchingbrooke estate was sold in 1962 to the then Huntingdonshire County Council. In 1970 the County Council established Hinchingbrooke School on part of the land, including Hinchingbrooke House itself, and subsequently created the Hinchingbrooke Country Park. Parts of the land were sold for the hospital, Police Headquarters and Forensic Laboratory. Since the 1990s land has also been sold for housing and employment development. With the exception of the employment area this land is served by a single road access and a variety of pedestrian and cycle linkages.

**3.7** The one-way ring road around the town centre cut through the town in the 1960s. The A14 built in the 1970s currently runs through the town on a generally elevated route including a viaduct over the railway. Views Common, to the west of the railway line, is bisected by the A14. The ring road creates both a physical as well as a movement barrier to the rest of the town. Ferrars Road and Handcroft Lane, as the main route to Views Common, have been disrupted by the ring road and past intensification of industrial development.

### **Constraints and Opportunities**

**3.8** The historical form of development, the railway and the roads constrain the ability of the town centre to grow and link in with this area to the west. New roads, together with public transport and footpaths offer the opportunity for better links. The Highways Agency prepared draft orders in 2009 for a scheme to re-route the A14 south of its current route, removing the viaduct over the railway and introducing a range of links with the local road network. Although this scheme was withdrawn in October 2010, the Department of Transport will undertake a study to identify cost effective and practical proposals which bring benefits and relieve congestion looking across modes to ensure sustainable proposals. This approach will also provide an opportunity for the private sector to play its part in developing schemes to tackle existing problems in the corridor. Huntingdonshire District Council plans to create a West of Town Centre Link Road which will serve to alleviate traffic flows, open up land for redevelopment opportunities and aid the introduction of measures to reduce the barrier effect of the ring road. An additional long-stay car park in the vicinity of

## 3 Area Context

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

the new West of Town Centre Link Road would help reduce the need for movements around the existing ring road in search of car parking. Future improvements to Huntingdon Bus Station situated on the ring road outside of the area together with the recently developed bus interchange at the station, will also serve to improve services in the action plan area.

**3.9** Rundown industrial land between George Street/Brampton Road and Ermine Street offers potential for regeneration. Large industrial sheds are at or nearing the end of their useful lives and it is understood that potential new landowners have options for purchase and proposals for redevelopment. Huntingdon's town centre is currently losing trade to centres outside the district and, in order to allow Huntingdon to fulfil its potential as the main shopping destination for the area, high quality retail development is required. The town centre is constrained and has limited opportunities to expand to cater for its future needs. The action plan area being situated close to the town centre could enable complementary retail and other business development to locate here with improved linkages to the existing town centre.

**3.10** The George St/ Ermine St residential areas have experienced some redevelopment recently and there are opportunities for further residential development. This will help provide much needed housing, including affordable housing, in a location close to the town centre.

**3.11** The pattern of development in the Hinchingbrooke area is now largely set, with only a few opportunities left for further development. The single access road (Hinchingbrooke Park Road) causes congestion problems that need to be addressed. The nature of the area, encompassing a number of institutions, provides both a constraint in that further development should respect the existing character, and an opportunity in that the environment can be enhanced to become a 'community campus'.

**3.12** There are opportunities to enhance and expand the Hinchingbrooke Country Park onto neighbouring agricultural land and to improve Views Common, particularly if the A14 viaduct is to be removed. There are also likely to be other opportunities to create additional green spaces.

**3.13** Parts of the action plan area are covered by the Huntingdon and Brampton Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs), in particular the George Street/ Brampton Road/ Ermine Street area and north west of Hinchingbrooke. The AQMAs have been designated in order to tackle the high levels of nitrogen dioxide emissions associated

with the A14 and Huntingdon Ring Road. There are opportunities to help reduce nitrogen dioxide emissions in the AQMAs through any future changes to the A14 and construction of the West of Town Centre Link Road.

#### Issues

**3.14** The issues that this area action plan seeks to address are:

- 1. Achieving the most sustainable development possible
- 2. Re-using previously developed land
- 3. Providing a mix of housing for a wide range of people
- 4. Providing employment opportunities
- 5. Providing future shopping opportunities
- 6. Reconfiguring roads to deal with current problems of accessibility and congestion
- 7. Improving connections with the town centre and other surrounding areas
- 8. Providing additional long stay car parking avoiding travel on the ring road
- 9. Providing needed additional infrastructure
- 10. Contributing additional open space to link with existing green infrastructure
- 11. Ensuring the various elements of the plan link together
- 12. Ensuring a high quality environment
- 13. Delivering the changes envisioned in the area action plan

# Area Context 3





## 4 Vision

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

# **4 Vision**

**4.1** The vision is intended to identify the character of Huntingdon West at the end of the plan period in 2026. It must address the challenges the area faces and identify the results of changes.

**4.2** The vision will only be achieved by working closely with the community, landowners, public bodies and service providers. The vision is the starting point from which objectives and policies that will guide development in accordance with the vision are derived.

#### The Huntingdon West Vision

It is intended that by 2026 Huntingdon West will be a vibrant part of the town enjoyed by residents, workers and visitors. Huntingdon West will have a distinctive identity with a series of innovative exemplar developments that interconnect providing a transformed community with opportunities for living, working and leisure.

New and improved transport routes will enable better, easier and more sustainable travel patterns enabling new land uses that will reflect the improved accessibility of the location. The new routes will help to break down the barrier caused by the main roads and enhance the connections and inter-relationships between this area and the rest of the town centre.

The George St/ Ermine St area will be transformed with modern residential, retail and office development, which will positively complement the town centre and enhance the vitality and viability of Huntingdon as a whole. Development in the Hinchingbrooke area and west of the railway involving land no longer needed for other uses will complement the existing community focused land uses. The Hinchingbrooke area will be a 'community campus' created by the variety of employment activities and agglomeration of institutional and public uses.

The wealth of heritage in Huntingdon West, including Hinchingbrooke House and other listed buildings, will be respected by new development. Development will be of a scale that recognises the Conservation Area designation, topography, and context. New buildings will be designed to showcase emerging technologies in renewable energy production, designed to use much less energy, and will promote the use of modern sustainable methods of construction. Buildings will be designed to be adaptable in terms of their design and lifecycle to help respond and adapt to the effects of climate change and the changing requirements of their users.

Hinchingbrooke Country Park will be enhanced and enlarged to provide a major community, recreational and biodiversity resource. This, together with other green space, including Views Common, will link Huntingdon West to strategic open space around the town and strengthen the habitat network for wildlife.

**4.3** The vision takes account of the visions set out in the East of England Plan 2008, the Sustainable Community Strategy and the Core Strategy. It recognises the need for change in the Huntingdon West area and seeks to enhance the area to create a thriving and vibrant area of Huntingdon which will help to boost the town's vitality and viability. It identifies areas where the most change is expected to occur and sets out ways in which improvements to the environment can be made. Fundamental to this are the changes to transport routes which will make the area more accessible.

**4.4** The quality of development is identified as being of particular importance. The vision sets out how Huntingdon West should lead the way in sustainable development and use innovative technologies.



## 5 Objectives

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

## **5 Objectives**

**5.1** The objectives set the framework beneath the vision upon which the policies are based.

### **Objectives**

#### **Objective 1 - Sustainable Travel**

To improve accessibility both within Huntingdon West and in the way it integrates with surrounding areas and encourage walking and the use of buses, trains, and bicycles.

### **Objective 2 - Vibrant Growth**

To provide an appropriate level of new and enhanced retail, employment, housing and other opportunities to meet local need in a manner which integrates with existing development and is complementary to, and expressly beneficial to the town centre.

#### **Objective 3 - Healthy and Green**

To facilitate healthy and active lifestyles by contributing to a network of improved and new high quality green spaces which link to strategic green spaces and routes around the area including an improved Hinchingbrooke Country Park and Views Common.

### **Objective 4 - A High Quality Environment**

To ensure that new development is complementary to the existing natural and historic environment and is of a high quality and a sustainable design.

### **Objective 5 - Infrastructure, Phasing and Implementation**

To provide necessary infrastructure, using contributions from developers where appropriate and to phase development to occur in conjunction with major road infrastructure provision.

**5.2** The objectives are consistent with the overarching objectives set out in the Core Strategy. Promoting sustainable travel is important for Huntingdon and there are a number of opportunities in the action plan area. The Highways Agency were previously promoting significant changes for the A14 and surrounding local road network, and while that scheme was withdrawn in October 2010, a study will be undertaken to identify cost effective and practical proposals which may include changes affecting this area. There is also the opportunity for further accessibility improvements with a West of Town Centre Link Road and potentially other roads, pedestrian and cycle routes and improved public transport.

**5.3** Huntingdon West offers considerable opportunities to contribute towards meeting the District's requirements for retail, employment and residential development. To meet the requirements of the Core Strategy, a mixture of complementary uses is envisaged within the area. This will include opportunities for a range of housing to meet housing needs, additional office employment and potentially new shops provided they link in and support the town centre shopping offer. This mixture of uses is intended to create a much more vibrant area of the town.

**5.4** Improving the environment of Hinchingbrooke Country Park and Views Common are central to the area action plan. The network of green space in and around Huntingdon West will be added to, with additional public open space. Improving open space has the twin benefits of increasing people's access to leisure and increasing opportunities to improve biodiversity.

**5.5** A high quality environment is important for everyone who will live or work in the area or visit it. As the area is a prominent gateway area for Huntingdon and provides links between several areas of the town, there is a great opportunity to create a place that is innovative and distinctive, has a sense of identity and responds to its context. It is imperative that new development within Huntingdon West takes account of the character and setting of the surrounding area – this includes the buildings and equally importantly the spaces between them, in order to contribute positively to this part of the District. All the differing areas of Huntingdon West have existing character assets and attributes that need to be respected by new development. This is particularly important in the Hinchingbrooke area which is characterised by its parkland setting and the Grade I listed Hinchingbrooke House.

## **Objectives 5**

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

**5.6** To achieve the vision it is necessary to set out what infrastructure and land is needed, how it will be provided, and when development can occur. Phasing will be required as some developments will be dependent on the creation of particular pieces of infrastructure whilst other developments can be brought forward earlier. These infrastructure and phasing requirements are set out at the end of the AAP.

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

## **6 Sustainable Travel**

## **Objective 1**

To improve accessibility both within Huntingdon West and in the way it integrates with surrounding areas and encourage walking and the use of buses, trains, and bicycles.

### New and Enhanced Local Road Networks

**6.1** A new West of Town Centre Link Road has been approved and further changes to the road network in this area are likely in future. Such changes may occur as a result of the Department of Transport's study into improving the A14 as well as in respect of individual development proposals.

## **Policy HW 1**

Changes should be made to the road network in order to promote better accessibility and enable redevelopment including:

- a. the West of Town Centre Link Road the design and specification of which will be determined by Huntingdonshire District Council in consultation with its partners.
- b. the A14, the future of which will be determined through a study undertaken by the Department of Transport.

**6.2** The District Council previously endorsed the principle of the changes proposed by the Highways Agency in 2008 which resulted in Draft Orders in 2009. In the AAP area, the changes involved the removal of the viaduct over the railway line. The new local road network envisaged involved a new access into Huntingdon over Mill Common (known as Pathfinder Link), a new alignment of the existing road with access points into the Railway Station, utilisation of an upgraded Brampton Road, and a new road

through Cambridgeshire Constabulary land and Views Common (known as Views Common Link). This scheme was withdrawn by the government following its Spending Review of October 2010, although it recognises that this corridor faces severe congestion, and that mobility along the route is critical for economic success and growth and will therefore undertake a further study to identify sustainable proposals.

**6.3** The West of Town Centre Link Road was first proposed as part of the Huntingdon & Godmanchester Market Town Transport Strategy, approved by both the County and District Councils in June 2003. The aim is to ease capacity issues on the ring road to allow further development in Huntingdon town centre and to serve redevelopment in the George Street/ Ermine Street area. The Council has prepared a detailed scheme for the Link Road and planning permission was granted in 2009. The Council and its partners have secured Housing Growth Funding to help with the early delivery of the Link Road.

**6.4** Changes to roads in this area can help to improve air quality in the Huntingdon and Brampton air quality management areas, which cover parts of the action plan area. The removal of the viaduct, subject to the outcome of the proposed study, would help to visually improve Brampton Road as it enters Huntingdon, providing the opportunity to enhance this gateway to the town.

**6.5** Other changes to the road network are possible within the plan period. A further road link in Hinchingbrooke could enhance the accessibility of this area and help to address congestion issues on Hinchingbrooke Park Rd. There is currently access through the Hinchingbrooke Business Park available for emergency vehicles through to the A14, and there could be potential to open up this access to other traffic, or create a new road over Views Common. Investigation of this potential change will need to await the Department of Transport's study into the future of the A14 and would be dependent on funding coming forward.

**6.6** New roads also provide the opportunity for a better bus service network and bus priority measures, and improved provision for pedestrians and cyclists (through new footpaths and cycleways).

## Sustainable Travel 6

### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

#### **Pedestrian and Cycle Links**

**6.7** Cycling and walking are heavily promoted through the Cambridgeshire Local Transport Plan and the Huntingdon & Godmanchester Market Town Transport Strategy. The Strategy and its supporting action plan include measures to improve linkages between the town centre and Hinchingbrooke, onward links to Brampton, the Racecourse and other areas of Huntingdon and Godmanchester. These existing proposals, together with additional proposals in this area action plan, will encourage walking and cycling.

## Policy HW 2

Pedestrian and cycle links which will improve accessibility between Huntingdon West, the town centre and surrounding areas as shown on Map 4 'Pedestrian and Cycle Links' will be safeguarded and provided within the plan period.

**6.8** Proposed pedestrian and cycle routes affecting this area in the Huntingdon & Godmanchester Market Town Transport Strategy include better links between the town centre and Hinchingbrooke, and Stukeley Meadows and the railway station. In addition an improved linkage between Hinchingbrooke Business Park and the town centre across Views Common is desirable, as are further routes through Hinchingbrooke Country Park. To break the barrier effect of the ring road, measures that give much greater priority to pedestrians are needed.

**6.9** Improved access for pedestrians and cyclists will be associated with the new road proposals associated with the West of Town Centre Link Road. In some cases it may be necessary to stop up, divert or provide an alternative for existing rights of way subject to the appropriate procedures being carried out. Signalised crossings to provide for the safe movement of pedestrians and cyclists across the roads may be required.

**6.10** An additional cycleway/footpath may be required along Brampton Road in the vicinity of the railway station immediately to the north of the current bridge should there be significantly more traffic along Brampton Road in future. Such provision could help to encourage cycling and walking in the area by providing a high quality link across the railway.

# 6 Sustainable Travel

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



Map 4 Pedestrian and Cycle Links

### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

#### The Railway Station

**6.11** Huntingdon railway station is a key transport facility in Huntingdon and to the wider area. It plays a very important part in enabling commuters to travel long distances without the use of a private car. Services operate south to intermediate stations and London Kings Cross and north to Peterborough with interlinking services beyond. The railway station is served by a number of different bus services linking Huntingdon to nearby towns and villages as well as Cambridge.

## **Policy HW 3**

The Council will work with Network Rail, the Train Operating Company, the Local Transport Authority and bus companies to develop and enhance the Huntingdon Railway Station land, in order to provide more integration between modes of travel and improve links with the town centre and other parts of the town.

**6.12** The Council will continue to work with partners to secure improvements as part of proposals for improving public transport accessibility in Huntingdon West. This will include better linkages between the railway station and buses including the Cambridge to St Ives Guided Bus.

**6.13** Improved pedestrian and cycle paths are proposed to the railway station. Additional cycle parking will also be encouraged.

**6.14** Access to the railway station was previously proposed to be changed following the removal of the viaduct as part of the A14 scheme. Under that scheme access to the eastern side would be in two new positions and some of the existing car parking removed as a result of the road changes. Whether such changes are in future proposed again or not, improved access is desirable, particularly for the west car park and improvements will be sought in conjunction with any proposal for additional car parking in this area.

**6.15** No commercial development is provided for on the railway station land as it is envisaged that all the existing land owned by Network Rail will continue to be needed for operational purposes and car parking.

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

# 7 Vibrant Growth

## **Objective 2**

To provide an appropriate level of new and enhanced retail, employment, housing and other opportunities to meet local need in a manner which integrates with existing development and is complementary to, and expressly beneficial to, the town centre.

### The George Street/ Ermine Street Area

**7.1** The George St/ Ermine St area lies immediately west of the town centre. It includes areas of poor quality industrial development which are largely redundant with opportunities for reuse. However, apart from these poor quality areas, there are several fine buildings and attractive areas which are part of the Huntingdon Conservation Area.

**7.2** Locating new development in this area positively contributes towards sustainability as it is well served by facilities, given its proximity to the established town centre. Redevelopment offers the opportunity of improving the overall character of the area and improving its links to the town centre.

## Policy HW 4

Development sites in the George St/ Ermine St area of approx 6ha will be redeveloped according to a masterplan using the concepts set out in Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses' including provision for the following mixed uses:

- a. Retail of approximately 5,350m<sup>2(a)</sup> that is complementary to the continuing vitality and viability of the town centre and does not jeopardise the delivery of further redevelopment at Chequers Court;
- b. Approximately 170 to 230 homes (including affordable housing);
- c. Open space;
- d. Employment of approximately 0.57ha<sup>(b)</sup> such as office (B1a), or alternative town centre uses such as live/work units, restaurants, a hotel and leisure facilities;
- e. An additional public car park to serve the need for long stays in the town centre; and
- f. Related servicing, pedestrian and cycle links, cycle and car parking.

**7.3** The redevelopment of vacant and under-used industrial land in this sustainable location will facilitate the sustainable and organic growth of the town centre.

**7.4** National, Regional and Core Strategy policies have been taken into account in determining the amount, type and location of additional retail provision that can be supported in Huntingdon. The Core Strategy is committed to development in the town centre first and seeks to provide at least an additional 9,000m<sup>2</sup> of net comparison shopping space in Huntingdon and at least 4,000m<sup>2</sup> of convenience floorspace across the District. The Council's updated Retail Study in 2010 identifies that the need in

a This figure is an approximate net internal floor area and has been arrived at from a robust residual assessment based upon the submissions made by the Council and principal landowners in the Chequers Court area and evidence of need from the Huntingdonshire Retail Development Advice (Roger Tym and Partners on behalf of HDC, 2010). Any retail development beyond this figure would need to satisfy the policy tests in CS 8 of the Core Strategy, HW4 of the AAP and demonstrate its acceptability in transport terms.

b Any employment development beyond this figure would need to satisfy the policy tests in CS 7 of the Core Strategy, HW4 of the AAP and demonstrate its acceptability in transport terms.

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

Huntingdon is for a total of approximately 19,450m<sup>2</sup> net retail floorspace, the majority of which (17,400m<sup>2</sup>) is for comparison sales. The provision of some of this space as part of a second phase of redevelopment at Chequers Court is planned but there is a need to facilitate further land for retail use. The George St/ Ermine St area offers the opportunity for complementary retail development which can demonstrate that the proposed site is or will be well connected to the town centre. Retail proposals will have to demonstrate that the sites chosen are appropriate, propose an acceptable traffic and urban design solution (for the redevelopment of the site and as part of the redevelopment of the area as a whole) and have regard to issues of retail mix. They will also have to demonstrate that they enhance the vitality of Huntingdon town centre by complementing existing retail provision and choice and act as a positive factor in terms of the overall regeneration and enhancement of the town centre. The area closest to George Street is the most appropriate for any retail as it will have access from the proposed West of Town Centre Link Road, is close to existing retailing in the town centre and will help to facilitate improved linkages between the town centre. the railway station and the Hinchingbrooke area through the site.

**7.5** Close to George Street there are also opportunities for some housing or alternative complementary activities such as offices, a hotel or leisure uses. In a housing proposal, a range of approximately 20 and 40 homes is anticipated on approximately 0.5ha.

**7.6** At the northern end of the George St/ Ermine St area around Ferrars Road, redevelopment encompassing housing on the existing industrial and servicing sites is envisaged. Approximately 150 to 190 homes could be achieved either side of the new link road on approximately 2ha. This northern end is significantly less suitable for retailing as it is further from shops in the main part of the existing town centre and the railway station than the George St end. The existing residential development in this area also lends support to increased housing in a manner which fits well with the surrounding townscape given the conservation area status of part of the land.

**7.7** The Cambridgeshire Constabulary buildings and the recent site of the temporary library could become available. Town centre uses, principally office (B1a) use would be acceptable here.

**7.8** Live/work units providing accommodation for both residential and suitable business use is an alternative activity envisaged throughout the George St/ Ermine St area.

**7.9** Long stay public car parks in Huntingdon located at Riverside and Bridge Place serve the east and south of the town. In order to avoid unnecessary travel on the ring road, a further long stay car park serving the north and west is proposed. The suggested location is land opened up by the West of Town Centre Link Road adjacent to the railway. This would be subject to charges in the same way as other Council car parks.

**7.10** Concepts for development of the land are set out on Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses' and this will be used to help develop a masterplan for the area. In addition to development, the masterplan will address open space (further discussed under Policy HW8) and a strategic approach to managing surface water using Sustainable Drainage systems (further discussed under Policy HW9).

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011













**Existing land uses** 

Map 6a George Street / Ermine Street - Existing Land Uses





## Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



Map 6b George Street / Ermine Street - Townscape Analysis















### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



Map 6d George Street / Ermine Street - Land Parcels

The potential land parcels are defined by both the routes of the proposed link road and the potential for improved and additional cycle and pedestrian routes.

This then allows for the creation of defined 'perimeter blocks' within which built form and open space can be designed.





Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



Map 6e George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses





Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

#### Hinchingbrooke Community Campus

**7.11** West of the railway line there are opportunities to enhance the 'community campus' character that has developed with the institutional uses on the former Hinchingbrooke Estate and make the best use of land that is available for redevelopment in that location.

## Policy HW 5

Sites west of the railway and in the Hinchingbrooke area will be developed in accordance with a masterplan using the concepts in Map 7d 'Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Land Use Proposals' for the following uses:

- a. 1.1ha of land between the site of the proposed Huntingdonshire Regional College and Views Common will be redeveloped for office uses (B1a).
- b. 1.9ha of land west of the Railway will be redeveloped for office uses (B1a). Noise mitigation measures will be incorporated recognising the location adjacent to the railway line.
- c. Land that currently has permission for the relocation of Huntingdonshire Regional College and the permission for the Water Tower conversion will be considered for employment uses (B1a and/or B1b) or non-residential institutional uses (D1) should alternative uses be sought instead of implementing these permissions.

Proposals must be set in landscaped grounds that reflect the context provided by Views Common, the historic parkland setting of Hinchingbrooke House and the aims of enhancing the 'community campus' identity.

**7.12** New activities in this location must fit in with the character of the surrounding open space and existing institutional uses, and reinforce the strong 'community campus' identity for the area.

**7.13** Land owned by the Cambridgeshire Constabulary north east of the approved Regional College is allocated for employment uses. This Police Headquarters land would need to be redeveloped having regard to the protected trees on it. Innovative, knowledge-based businesses or an innovation centre with a flexible range of units

available offering space for businesses to grow may be suitable uses. All this Constabulary land will require an appropriate road access, having regard to the previously proposed plans associated with the A14 improvements, the Government's proposed study on the A14, and any further proposals in respect of enhanced access around Huntingdon.

**7.14** The Water Tower west of the railway near Brampton Road has planning permission for redevelopment for office use. Should alternative development be sought, office or institutional use may be possible. Particular regard will need to be given to the retention of significant trees on the site. The 1.9ha site in the same ownership west of the railway is considered suitable for office use in the longer term. This site will present an interesting design challenge with development needing to respond to the constraints upon the area including road access, noise from the railway, and the relationship with the open environment of Views Common adjoining the site. A single point of access as currently exists for both the Water Tower and this 1.9ha site is envisaged.

**7.15** The Huntingdonshire Regional College has planning permission for development of a new further educational facility on part of the Police Headquarters land. Relocation of the college from its current Huntingdon location is dependent on funding. Should this relocation not go ahead, the policy identifies suitable alternative development for employment or institutional uses.

**7.16** The Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust has advised that there is a possibility that some of the hospital land will become available for alternative uses if there is a reduction in activity at the hospital or there is related redevelopment, such as concentrating car parking in a decked car park structure. As there are no precise proposals or timeframes, no land is allocated in this plan. Office use or other institutional uses such as a general practitioner's surgery or a community facility may be suitable should land be identified and a planning application made.

**7.17** A masterplan is proposed to be prepared to direct development and safeguard the important features of the area.

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



## Map 7a Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Existing Land Uses

The area is dominated by the existing large institutional uses of Hinchingbrooke Hospital, Hinchingbrooke School the Cambridgeshire Police Headquarters and the Fire Service

Residential

Open space

Woodland

**Railway station** 

Institutional uses



22



Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



Map 7c Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Planning Constraints

As this area is mostly sited within the grounds of the former Hinchingbrooke House, there are a substantial number of tree protection orders in the vicinity. The conservation area has also been extended.





Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

# 8 Healthy and Green

## **Objective 3**

To facilitate healthy and active lifestyles by contributing to a network of improved and new high quality green spaces which link to strategic green spaces and routes around the area including an improved Hinchingbrooke Country Park and Views Common.

### Hinchingbrooke Country Park

**8.1** There is considerable potential to improve and extend the Hinchingbrooke Country Park to provide a better experience for increasing numbers of visitors and to encourage wildlife.

## **Policy HW 6**

The Council will work with adjoining landowners to pursue extension of Hinchingbrooke Country Park to include some or all of the land identified on Map 8 'Hinchingbrooke Country Park' in order to enhance the facilities of the park and to provide for biodiversity and visitors.

**8.2** Hinchingbrooke Country Park consists of 70 hectares (170 acres) of woodland, meadows and lakes together with a number of facilities. The Council will seek to add land to the Country Park to provide for additional recreational activities and support improved biodiversity. Such land could be leased or purchased. The existing route around the eastern lake provides a loop that would ideally be replicated by paths around the western part. This could be achieved in stages with initial paths leading to bird hides enabling people to view the wildlife. Country Park management of the island within the western lake would enable the lake to become a better habitat. The allocated land is currently farmed and is largely within the floodplain. Adding land to the Country Park which is currently within floodplain will ensure that the land is not

used for an incompatible use. The Country Park will need to have flood management practices in place. Low-key recreational use is expected given the potential for flooding.

**8.3** There is a significant demand for car parking during events at the Country Park. Leasing or purchasing adjoining land near Huntingdon Rd could provide for an additional car park. A permanent car park located along Huntingdon Road will be pursued in order to cater for increased visitor numbers and avoid the need for all visitors arriving by car to use Hinchingbrooke Park Road.

**8.4** It is anticipated that there will be no major development along the Thrapston Rd / Huntingdon Rd border which will help to maintain the rural outlook of the Country Park.

# Healthy and Green 8

## Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011



Map 8 Hinchingbrooke Country Park

## 8 Healthy and Green

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

#### Views Common

**8.5** Views Common will be significantly changed if the A14 viaduct is removed and a new local road is constructed across it, as was proposed in the 2009 Draft Orders. Removal of the viaduct and its associated embankment, subject to the outcome of the proposed study, would enable the partial restoration of the historic form of the Common. There is also potential to improve this open space with additional public access.

## **Policy HW 7**

Views Common will remain as a significant open space and, subject to the outcome of the proposed study, if the A14 viaduct and embankment is to be removed, it will be added to by reinstatement of that land. The Council will work with the owners to enhance public access across the Common.

**8.6** Views Common is an important area of historic open space which is home to a variety of flora. It forms part of a green corridor from the River Great Ouse through to Hinchingbrooke Country Park and beyond. Archaeological remains and habitats supporting wildlife will need to be safeguarded in any development works.

**8.7** The Department of Transport's study into the A14 will need to consider whether the viaduct over the railway will be removed and consequently the embankment removed and part of the historic Views Common reinstated. Given the potential for this, the area of the embankment is allocated for open space and it is envisaged that the embankment would be levelled to provide useful open space. Should the viaduct be removed, additional road access may be required for re-routed traffic. Once the outcome of the study is known, the Council will be in a position to identify the potential for additional links and enhancements having regard to the intrinsic landscape and biodiversity values of the Common.

#### **Other Open Space and Play Areas**

**8.8** Open space and play areas are valuable community resources which can promote healthy lifestyles and help foster community pride.

**8.9** There are some small public open spaces and play areas in the Hinchingbrooke area, together with other open spaces such as the Hinchingbrooke School playing fields. The George St/ Ermine St area currently has no public open space and with large scale redevelopment there are opportunities to create new open and play space and complete a missing part in an otherwise continuous green corridor through the town. Green spaces such as these will be delivered in accordance with the Development Management DPD.

## Policy HW 8

Existing open spaces will be maintained and enhanced and further open space, where possible linking to the strategic open space network around Huntingdon will be provided with future development.

**8.10** There are opportunities to create a continuous green corridor from the waterfront at Riverside Park, through Mill Common, Views Common, and Hinchingbrooke Country Park with links to the countryside and strategic green spaces defined in the 2006 Green Infrastructure Strategy and the emerging review of this strategy due to be completed during 2011.

**8.11** Two large mixed use developments in the George St/ Ermine St area will create a need for additional open space, for example play areas for children occupying new housing. There is the opportunity in these areas to link open space to the surrounding area by creating the missing links.

**8.12** The re-opening of Handcroft lane as a green corridor will re-create not only an important historic feature but also an important desire line between the town centre and Views Common with access under the railway. Other potential links should feed into this corridor.

**8.13** One particular opportunity for greening the area is associated with Barracks Brook. Barracks Brook currently flows through the Ferrars Road area mostly in an underground culvert. This area is subject to a flood probability of 1 in 1000 years known as Flood Zone 2. Any new buildings should be set back from the watercourse and the opportunity could be taken to open up the stream and create a natural feature in this area. Developers will be expected to liaise with the Alconbury and Ellington

## Healthy and Green 8

### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

Internal Drainage Board and the Environment Agency to assess the feasibility of whether the stream should be opened up as part of a new green linkage. Opening up the culvert within Huntingdon West in conjunction with development could contribute to the natural environment and create a new green linkage as well as create a natural and distinctive focus to this part of the town.

**8.14** Portholme lies beyond Mill Common and is a gateway to the Ouse valley. It is an alluvial flood meadow recognised as a Special Area for Conservation (SAC) and is subject to the Habitats Directive in European legislation. Assessment of the area action plan on this area, and other European sites further afield has been undertaken in accordance with the Habitat Regulations. The assessment predicted effects on Portholme relating to recreational disturbance, water abstraction and water pollution. Recommendations for the avoidance and mitigation of effects have been incorporated into this plan.
### 9 High Quality Environment

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

### 9 High Quality Environment

### **Objective 4**

To ensure that new development is complementary to the existing natural and historic environment and is of a high quality and a sustainable design.

#### Design

**9.1** Good design, arising from a thorough understanding of place and context, is important in creating environments that contribute to people's well-being. Good design leads to sustainable, high quality, and attractive places.

### Policy HW 9

In areas allocated for development, proposals must demonstrate a high standard of design and show how an attractive environment has been created. Proposals must also provide evidence as to how the principles contained within the relevant design guidance documents and plans contained in this document have been adhered to, and in particular how any proposal has:

- 1. Protected the area's heritage by having regard to Conservation Area status and the setting of any listed buildings
- 2. Created a sense of coherence and distinctiveness to the area
- 3. Respected the topography and scale of neighbouring developments
- 4. Used appropriate materials
- 5. Retained existing mature trees and promoted biodiversity
- 6. Utilised Sustainable Drainage techniques
- 7. Enabled ease of movement through the area, particularly by walking and cycling

**9.2** Development should be distinctive, respecting the existing context and environment in which Huntingdon West sits. There are areas of mature trees and landscaping throughout Huntingdon West which will have a significant effect on the design and setting of development. The Huntingdon Conservation Area which includes much of the George St/ Ermine St area, the Railway Station, Views Common and some of the Hinchingbrooke area including the 'historic core' of Hinchingbrooke House and gatehouse is particularly important.

**9.3** In those areas outside of the Conservation Area, development will still need to be of a high standard of design and contribute positively to the environment without harming the setting of the Conservation Area, but there may be more flexibility to incorporate design of a different scale and form. Additional residential development in the George St/ Ermine St area must relate to the existing residential neighbourhoods in terms of scale and massing.

**9.4** Barracks Brook, which runs through the northern part of the George St/ Ermine St area is currently mostly culverted. Prior to entering Huntingdon West there are already flood retention measures in place in Stukeley Meadows. The Brook flows from Huntingdon West around the ring road to the River Great Ouse at Riverside. A Sustainable Drainage system to manage surface water would help maintain surface water quality, reduce flood risk and create high amenity public open space that supports biodiversity.

**9.5** Developments should have regard to neighbouring developments, existing rights of way, and lines of desirable movement, in order to ensure that it becomes easier to move around and through the area.

# 10 Infrastructure, Phasing and Implementation

### **Objective 5**

To provide necessary infrastructure, using contributions from developers where appropriate, and to phase development to occur in conjunction with major road infrastructure provision.

#### Infrastructure

**10.1** The District Council, together with the County Council and the government are already engaged in providing necessary infrastructure to support development in Huntingdon West. Developers will also be expected to contribute to necessary infrastructure. The District Council has obtained funding to part support the delivery of the West of Town Centre Link Road. The previously proposed changes to the A14, which were to cost £1.4 billion, were withdrawn in the government's spending review in October 2010, but the Department for Transport has committed to a study and has indicated that the private sector may be involved in developing schemes to tackle problems in the A14 corridor.

### Policy HW 10

Contributions from development towards infrastructure in the Huntingdon West area will be expected in particular to assist appropriately in the delivery of:

- a. Planned roads
- b. Public transport
- c. Public car parking
- d. Public access improvements, particularly pedestrian and cycle routes
- e. Improvements to Hinchingbrooke Country Park and other open space
- f. Utilities infrastructure and renewable energy

- g. Education
- h. Any other requirement as set out in Policy CS10 of the Core Strategy

More detail on the contributions is set out in Appendix 1 'Infrastructure Requirements'.

**10.2** Development proposals will be expected to provide or contribute towards the cost of providing appropriate infrastructure, and of meeting social and environmental requirements, where these are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. Contributions may also be required to meet the management and maintenance of services and facilities provided through any obligation. Specific requirements are set out in this area action plan in addition to other requirements dealt with by other development plan documents.

**10.3** The government has published proposals for the establishment of a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which could be applied in future.

#### **Phasing and Implementation**

**10.4** Producing an area action plan for Huntingdon West is urgently needed to manage and coordinate piecemeal change that has been occurring and the further change that will occur.

### Policy HW 11

The timing of the development in the George St/ Ermine St area will be determined by the completion of the link road, the demolition of redundant buildings and treatment of contamination.

Elsewhere where it is considered that there is potential for a proposal to affect the A14 a transport assessment will be required to demonstrate that there will be 'nil detriment' to traffic flows on the A14 in accordance with the current Highways Agency policy position.

### 10 Infrastructure, Phasing and Implementation

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

Retail development in the George St/ Ermine St area will be dependent on the proposals being complementary to plans for the town centre in terms of the mix of retail activity and that the selected sites are appropriate in urban design terms and can demonstrate that they are well connected to the town centre.

Further detail on phasing is set out in Appendix 2 'Potential Phasing'.

**10.5** The effects of the recession are likely to result in slower rates of development in Huntingdon West than anticipated when the area action plan was being drawn up. However, key road infrastructure works are publicly funded and these are progressing albeit with revised timeframes. Some office development may not be viable in the short term and is likely to need more favourable market conditions.

**10.6** Permission for the proposed Link Road through the George Street/ Ermine Street Area has been granted and the road is planned for completion in 2013. The development of this area needs to take place in a comprehensive fashion and be accessed from the link road. Although it may be possible for some development to commence prior to the opening of the whole link road, any schemes advanced before completion of the road cannot undermine the delivery of the road or associated infrastructure.

**10.7** Developers in the George St/ Ermine St area are expected to investigate land for contamination and ensure that any required remediation takes place. Given the large areas of hardstanding, and the need for decontamination, there is also the need to ensure that waste is appropriately dealt with.

**10.8** The timing of retail development has to have regard to plans for Huntingdon town centre, in particular the Chequers Court redevelopment. Retail development proposals must demonstrate that they are complementary to proposals for the existing town centre thus ensuring its continued vitality and viability. In urban design terms, the selected sites must be presented as part of a coherent strategy in relation to the redevelopment of the area as a whole. Buildings will need to be well designed and integrated, with car parking and service areas effectively incorporated into the townscape. Attractive new areas of public realm that generate activity and create positive streetscapes are essential. In addition, routes and accesses should be established or enhanced to link shops in the area with the rest of the town centre and further afield.

### Monitoring 11

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

### **11 Monitoring**

**11.1** The Council produces an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) in accordance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The AMR assesses performance against indicators, which are linked with spatial objectives from the Core Strategy as

well as sustainability appraisal objectives and other adopted policies. If, as a result of monitoring, areas are identified where a policy is not working, or key policy targets are not being met, this may give rise to a review of the area action plan.

**11.2** The following table shows how policies in the area action plan will be monitored by indicators and the targets that are sought in relation to those indicators.

Policy	Indicators	Indicator Type	Targets	Responsible Agencies
HW1, HW10	Completion of WOTC Link Road	Local output (S106 and MTTS report)	CPO for WOTC Link Road complete by Dec 2011 Construction of WOTC Link Road by Dec 2013	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector, Cambridgeshire County Council
HW1	Completion of new A14 and associated works	Local output	Study to identify cost effective and practical proposals for the A14 completed in accordance with government timeframes	Highways Agency
HW2	Additional pedestrian and cycle paths included in the Market Town Transport Strategy	Local output (MTTS report)	Market Town Transport Strategy reviewed within 12 months of outcome of A14 study	Huntingdonshire District Council, Cambridgeshire County Council
HW2, HW4, HW10	Additional pedestrian and cycle paths created within the AAP area	Local output (S106 report)	Link from Ferrars Road through Handscroft Lane created with development by Dec 2020	Private Sector
HW2, HW4, HW10	Additional pedestrian and cycle paths created within the AAP area	Local output (MTTS report)	Additional crossing points on ring road created after WOTC Link Road and additional development by Dec 2020	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private sector
HW2, HW6, HW7, HW10	Additional pedestrian and cycle paths created within the AAP area	Local output (Management Plan reports)	Additional public access around Hinchingbrooke Country Park and Views Common created as funding becomes available by Dec 2026	Private Sector, Huntingdonshire District Council, Cambridgeshire County Council
HW2, HW3, HW4, HW10	Additional pedestrian and cycle paths created within the AAP area	Local output (S106 and MTTS report)	Additional and diverted links north and south of George Street created with development by Dec 2020	Private Sector, Huntingdonshire District Council, Cambridgeshire County Council
HW2, HW3, HW4,	Additional pedestrian and cycle paths created within the AAP area	Local output (S106 and MTTS report)	Cycle and pedestrian bridge across railway if needed created with development by Dec 2026	Private Sector, Huntingdonshire District Council, Cambridgeshire County Council

# 11 Monitoring

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

Policy	Indicators	Indicator Type	Targets	Responsible Agencies
HW10				
HW3	High satisfaction with Huntingdon railway station	Local Output – specific to AAP (MTTS report and 5 yr survey)	More than 75% satisfied and more than 50% highly satisfied in survey	Network Rail, First Capital Connect, Cambridgeshire County Council, Huntingdonshire District Council
HW4, HW9	Completion of a masterplan for George St/ Ermine St area	Local Output – specific to AAP	Adoption of masterplan by Dec 2013	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector, Cambridgeshire County Council, Internal Drainage Board
HW4	Completed retail, and leisure development (gross and net internal floorspace in m <sup>2</sup> A1, A2, D2)	Core Output	4,000m <sup>2</sup> gross retail by Dec 2020	Private Sector
HW4	Completed employment development (gross and net floorspace in m <sup>2</sup> B1a, B1b, B2, B8)	Core Output	2,000m <sup>2</sup> gross employment by Dec 2026	Private Sector
HW4	Completed floorspace for other use class (net internal floorspace in m <sup>2</sup> A3, A4, C1, C2, D1, sui generis)	Core Output	No specific target	Private Sector
HW4	New dwellings on previously developed land	Core Output	170 dwellings by Dec 2020	Private Sector
HW4	Affordable housing completions	Core Output	40% on proposals of 15 or more homes or 0.5ha or more	Private Sector, Registered Social Landlords
HW4, HW8, HW10	Additional public open space (m <sup>2</sup> )	Local Output	Open space near George St and near Handscroft Lane with development by Dec 2020	Private Sector
HW4, HW10	Additional public car parking	Local Output (MTTS report)	Public car park to west of Huntingdon by Dec 2020	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector
HW5, HW9	Completion of a masterplan for Hinchingbrooke area	Local Output – specific to AAP	Adoption of masterplan by Council by Dec 2016	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector, Cambridgeshire County Council

# Monitoring 11

### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

Policy	Indicators	Indicator Type	Targets	Responsible Agencies
HW5	Completed employment development (gross and net floorspace in m <sup>2</sup> B1a, B1b, B2, B8)	Core Output	3000m <sup>2</sup> gross by Dec 2020 5000m <sup>2</sup> gross by Dec 2026	Private Sector
HW6, HW10	Extension to Hinchingbrooke Country Park	Local Output – specific to AAP	Lease or purchase of all additional land identified by Dec 2026	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector, Cambridgeshire County Council
HW6, HW10	Enhanced facilities in Country Park	Local Output	Additional car parking for 250 cars provided by Dec 2020	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector
HW6	High satisfaction with Country Park	Local Output (Management Info + 5 yr Survey)	More than 75% satisfied and more than 50% highly satisfied in survey	Huntingdonshire District Council
HW7	Reinstatement of land to Views Common	Local Output	Land added after removal of viaduct	Highways Agency
HW8, HW10	Additional public open space (m <sup>2</sup> )	Local Output (S106 report)	Open space created as required by development	Private Sector
HW9	Number and percentage of housing sites (10+ dwellings) with a Building for Life assessment of less than 10, 10-13, 14-15 and 16+	Core Output (Survey)	Sites to achieve a minimum score of 10	Private Sector, Registered Social Landlords
HW9	High quality developments	Local Output (5 yr Survey)	More than 75% rate quality good and more than 50% rate quality high in survey	Private Sector, Registered Social Landlords
HW10	Amount of contributions towards infrastructure	Local Output (S106 report)	Infrastructure set out in Appendix 1 to AAP provided	Private Sector, Huntingdonshire District Council
HW11	Plan implemented within timeframes	Local Output	Timeframes set out in Appendix 2 to AAP met	Huntingdonshire District Council, Private Sector, Cambridgeshire County Council, Highways Agency

## **Appendix 1 Infrastructure Requirements**

### **Proposals Associated with A14**

**1.1** The Government announced in October 2010 that it will undertake a study to identify cost effective and practical proposals to improve the A14. Funding is expected from Government but the approach from Government will also provide an opportunity for the private sector to play its part in developing schemes to tackle existing problems in the corridor.

**1.2** It is envisaged that some development will go ahead in advance of the completion of the study and the road network changes it may bring, and provided this is not significant in scale, the impact on the A14 is likely to be negligible. A transport assessment will be required to demonstrate that there will be 'nil detriment' to traffic flows on the A14 in accordance with the current Highways Agency policy position.

#### West of Town Centre Link Road

**1.3** Huntingdonshire District Council has obtained housing growth funding to part fund the creation of the new Link Road between George Street/Brampton Road and Ermine Street which has obtained planning permission.

**1.4** Normally developers would be expected to pay for the complete road provision, but as it will be part-funded separately, some level of contributions from developers could be allocated to other infrastructure requirements.

#### Additional Hinchingbrooke Link Road

**1.5** A further road link in Hinchingbrooke either through the Hinchingbrooke Business Park or across Views Common will be investigated if appropriate following the Department of Transport's study into the future of the A14. Delivery of the link would be dependent on funding coming forward.

#### **Buses**

**1.6** The Cambridgeshire Guided Busway is expected to be completed prior to the implementation of this area action plan. The Busway will run from Cambridge to St Ives with on-street sections and bus priority measures through to Huntingdon. This

will include linkage to Huntingdon Town Centre including the bus station and the railway station. George Street and Brampton Road are key elements of that on-street route to provide integration with Huntingdon West. In accordance with the approved Market Town Transport Strategy (MTTS) and any subsequent review of the strategy relating to public transport measures, this strategy will be used to secure contributions from developments within Huntingdon West towards the measures contained in that strategy.

**1.7** Within the timeframe of the area action plan, the MTTS will be reviewed and it is likely that a review of the MTTS will investigate a revised set of public transport initiatives themselves linked to the development scenarios contained within the Core Strategy and the Are Action Plan. On the basis of the measures contained in the MTTS, it will be that strategy that will be used to secure developer contributions.

#### **Railway Station**

**1.8** Continued work will take place to secure more bus services and improved accessibility at the dedicated interchange with the rail station. Additionally, improved information, including Real Time provision, will be sought.

**1.9** Additional car parking to serve the railway station may be proposed privately or through Network Rail and First Capital Connect.

#### **Public Car Parking**

**1.10** Additional public car parking is envisaged on land adjoining the West of Town Centre Link Road as shown on Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses'. The land will need to be secured by the Council and contributions from developers are expected to contribute to the costs of providing this additional public car parking. The cost will include land acquisition plus design and construction costs. Ongoing costs are expected to be met through the application of car parking charges in line with elsewhere in the town.

#### **Pedestrians and Cyclists**

**1.11** Additional pedestrian and cycle linkages are proposed, as shown on Map 4 'Pedestrian and Cycle Links'. Developers are expected to contribute to the costs of establishing these routes. A number of these routes are already detailed in the

Huntingdon & Godmanchester Market Town Transport Strategy (MTTS) and creating additional paths will help to complete these routes. In addition an improved linkage between Hinchingbrooke Business Park across Views Common is envisaged and a separate pedestrian/cycle bridge across the railway is to be investigated. Further pedestrian routes within an expanded Hinchingbrooke Country Park would also be expected.

### Hinchingbrooke Country Park

**1.12** Appropriate contributions from developers in the wider Huntingdon area are expected to improve Hinchingbrooke Country Park as follows:

- 1. Lease or purchase of additional land for the Country Park
- 2. Lease or purchase of land for an overflow car park near Huntingdon Road
- 3. Improvements to the existing car park
- 4. Improvement to the countryside centre including renewable energy (such as a wind turbine), insulation and maintenance
- 5. CCTV and Lighting
- 6. Interpretation boards, waymarking signs and leaflets
- 7. Play and recreation facilities
- 8. Café improvements
- 9. New toilet block
- 10. Footpath / Cyclepath / Bridleway improvements (including those which form part of the existing Rights of Way Network) and cycle facilities
- 11. Ranger staff time

**1.13** There is a need for additional land for recreation and for an overflow car park. Additional and/or improved car parking in the existing car park could help to increase capacity beyond the current 80 spaces. Improvements to the access road could also aid access and egress from the car park but careful design would be needed to ensure the retention of trees.

**1.14** The countryside education centre is used as a community facility for the area but its opening hours are currently very limited. Improvements to insulation and the heating system, perhaps provided by a sustainable energy source such as a wind turbine, will enable the centre to have greater usage over the winter months. With the increase in visitor numbers and the extended hours of usage, additional lighting and

CCTV coverage may also be needed. The visitors centre could also be further improved following the recent café extensions. An additional toilet block will also be needed to meet additional demand.

**1.15** Improvements to the unsurfaced footpath network will increase the overall carrying capacity of the Park and enhance facilities for those with disabilities. A bridge over the Alconbury Brook for pedestrians and cyclists will allow a further circular path network to be expanded, together within improving access to the wider countryside. Facilities for play and recreation such as young children's play equipment and older children's outdoor gym equipment, together with additional seating and barbeque areas will cater for a wide age range of users. Interpretation boards, waymarking signs, bird hides and Ranger staff could also be used to inform visitors about the features of the Park and encourage appropriate recreational activity.

### Other Open Space and Contributions towards Leisure and Sports Facilities

**1.16** Additional areas of open space are proposed in the George St/ Ermine St area as shown on Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses'. These areas are expected to be provided by developers as part of the mixed use developments envisaged in those locations. The Council may adopt these spaces subject to appropriate management funds being provided by the developer. Other contributions may also be required in accordance with adopted local standards and pooled for the creation or improvement of sports facilities to serve Huntingdon and for the development of the Great Fen Project.

#### Utilities

**1.17** Utilities such as water, electricity and gas may need to be upgraded as a result of new development. Developers will be expected to create high quality developments in accordance with the standards such as the Code for Sustainable Homes in order to limit the pressure on existing resources. Contributions may be required to facilitate renewable energy, including off-site renewables created through partnerships using pooled funds.

#### Education

**1.18** Existing education provision will be affected by new housing. Based on current Cambridgeshire County Council calculations a range of possible requirements is identified as follows:

#### **Table 1 Requirements for New School Places**

Policies	New Homes	New Primary places required	New Secondary places required
George St/ Ermine St			
Lower estimate	170	51	34
Higher estimate	230	69	46

**1.19** Of the two existing secondary schools, Hinchingbrooke is operating at capacity and is usually oversubscribed in each admissions round. There is some spare capacity currently at St Peters and the scope to expand the school by an additional form of entry (150 pupils). While Huntingdon continues to be served by two secondary schools the County Council's approach will be to provide for growth by utilising the existing spare capacity at St Peter's School and through the potential to expand it by one form of entry. A review of the secondary school catchment areas in Huntingdon may be required to support this approach. A third secondary school is another option the County will consider.

**1.20** The size of developments proposed is unlikely to warrant any new primary schools. However, with spare capacity in the existing primary schools diminishing, some expansion of primary school provision will be required. The two closest primary schools (Stukeley Meadows and Cromwell Park) have limited spare capacity and the sites do not lend themselves easily to expansion. The County Council will have to assess the potential for expansion of other school sites in Huntingdon and the contribution that new school sites in the larger housing allocation areas can contribute to increasing capacity in the primary sector.

**1.21** Developers are also expected to contribute towards the establishment of child care facilities for 0-4 years old.

#### **Other Contributions**

**1.22** Policy CS10 of the Core Strategy sets out the contributions to infrastructure that may be required. In addition to the items above, contributions could be required for other items. The Council will be developing further guidance dealing with developer contributions.

**1.23** Affordable housing will be sought as set out in Core Strategy policy CS4. The Council currently has a SPD dealing with developer contributions for affordable housing. That SPD will be updated as required.

## **Appendix 2 Potential Phasing**

**2.1** In the light of the withdrawal, in October 2010, of the A14 scheme which had been due to be heard at a Public Inquiry in June 2010 it has been necessary to make some changes to this AAP.

**2.2** The Government has announced that it will undertake a study to identify cost effective and practical proposals which bring benefits and relieve congestion, looking across modes to ensure they develop sustainable proposals.

**2.3** In the event of the study resulting in changes which do not involve removal of the A14 viaduct across the railway and consequent local road changes in this area, the AAP can still largely be implemented and its proposals delivered, save for the employment development proposed on land directly west of the railway identified as Site B on Map 7d which may only be capable of being delivered in a form that responds to the physical constraints arising from the retention of the viaduct.

**2.4** If the Link Road was not to proceed there may be the possibility of some small scale development coming forward in parts of the George St/ Ermine St area (though such development would require careful justification to show how it would serve to alleviate traffic flows, open up land for redevelopment opportunities and aid the introduction of measures to reduce the barrier effect of the ring road). The Link Road would be a safeguarded route pending a review of the AAP, which would be likely triggered in this event.

**2.5** Pedestrian and cycle links within and adjacent to parcels will be provided as part of development and in tandem with proposals contained within the Huntingdon & Godmanchester MTTS, including any review of that strategy once the outcome of the A14 study is known.

#### Map 8 'Hinchingbrooke Country Park'

**2.6** Hinchingbrooke Country Park can be improved and extended as funds become available throughout the life of the area action plan between 2010 and 2026. Low cost and urgent improvements are expected in the short term. It is anticipated that within a year of the AAP being finalised, some additional land will become accessible to Country Park users through lease arrangements with adjoining landowners delivered

through the Higher Level Stewardship (HLS) or other agri-environment schemes. Land near Huntingdon Rd may be used for car parking for events on a limited number of occasions in the summer months. It is anticipated that within a year of the AAP being finalised, some additional land will become accessible to Country Park users through lease arrangements with adjoining landowners delivered through the Higher Level Stewardship (HLS) or other agri-environment schemes. Land near Huntingdon Rd may be used for car parking for events on a limited number of occasions in the summer months. In the longer term additional land may be leased or purchased as funds become available.

# Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses' – Parcel I (Public car park proposal)

**2.7** It is anticipated that this land would be secured by Huntingdonshire District Council at the same time as land for the West of Town Centre Link Road and so is dependent on funding. Subject to planning approval, it could be formed as a public car park at the same time as the Link Road, possibly as early as 2012, however funding may delay this.

# Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses' – Parcels A, B, D (Residential land proposals)

**2.8** Proposals to redevelop this land could be made pending construction of the West of Town Centre Link Road, anticipated in 2013. The proposals will need to be accompanied by a schedule detailing demolition and decontamination works. Appropriate measures will need to be in place, having consulted with the Environment Agency and the Alconbury and Ellington Drainage Board, regarding Barracks Brook in order to ensure that the risk of flooding is mitigated. Additional open space is anticipated in this area. The anticipated timeframe for development is between 2012 and 2020.

# Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses' – Parcels G and H (Mixed retail and residential proposal)

**2.9** As with the sites above, proposals for this land are dependent on the West of Town Centre Link Road being built, existing buildings demolished and land being decontaminated. Additional open space is also anticipated in this area facing George Street in order to link with Mill Common. An existing pedestrian right of way may need

### Appendix 2 Potential Phasing

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

to be moved and a gas main diverted. The timing of development of the Chequers Court area within the town centre, and the effect of retailing in this location on the town centre, will be relevant to applications for retail development on this land as delivery of the Chequers Court redevelopment should not be jeopardised and the town centre must remain vital and viable. The anticipated timeframe for development is between 2012 and 2020.

# Map 7d 'Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Land Use Proposals' – (Site A and site with permission for College)

**2.10** Development of these sites requires an appropriate road access, having regard to the previously proposed plans associated with the A14 improvements. The permission for the Huntingdonshire Regional College was granted with conditions allowing for a road to be built by developers to Highways Agency standards anticipating its eventual incorporation as part of the then proposed A14 scheme. Developers would be expected to show how both sites would be served by a new road and liaise with the Highways Agency in respect of further studying options for the upgrading of the A14.

# Map 6e 'George Street / Ermine Street - Land Uses' – Parcels C, E and F (Employment and mixed town centre use proposals)

**2.11** Development of this land may not be entirely dependent on the West of Town Centre Link Road, but nevertheless is unlikely to come forward in the short term as new buildings are likely to follow the major investment on nearby sites. Parcels C and E are currently in use as the Huntingdon Police Station and there is currently no proposal to bring forward redevelopment. Parcel F was the temporary library and the building could be re-used for employment purposes. In the longer term, anticipated towards the end of the plan period between 2016 and 2026 the sites could be redeveloped with new buildings and activities.

# Map 7d 'Hinchingbrooke Community Campus - Land Use Proposals' – (Site B and Water Tower Site with permission for development)

**2.12** Part of this land has been operating as a temporary car park since 2009. Employment development would be facilitated by the removal of the viaduct which was part of the now withdrawn scheme for the A14, but it is not necessary for the viaduct to be removed for some development to occur. Such development will need

to respond to the physical constraint of the viaduct and the outcomes of the A14 study, if the viaduct is removed. Joint use of the existing access to Brampton Road is anticipated.

#### **Views Common**

**2.13** The removal of the embankment on Views Common will be dependent on the delivery of the A14 scheme and the associated removal of the viaduct. The Highways Agency will commence work to remove the existing viaduct and associated infrastructure, including the embankment when the new A14 is complete and open. The removal of materials from the embankment and reinstatement of land will be funded by the A14 project.

### Saved Policies to be Superseded Appendix 3

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

# Appendix 3 Saved Policies to be Superseded

**3.1** This DPD is required to identify those policies from the Huntingdonshire Local Plan 1995 and the Huntindonshire Local Plan Alteration 2002 which are currently saved<sup>(c)</sup> that will be superseded by policies contained in this DPD (in line with Regulation 13(5)).

**3.2** Due to the district wide coverage of the remaining saved policies and the limited geographic area covered by this DPD none of the saved policies will be superseded by policies contained in this document.

c Those policies the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in the exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 has directed, for the purposes of the policies specified paragraph 1(2)(a) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 does not apply.

### **Appendix 4 Proposals Maps**

**4.1** Huntingdonshire District Council is required to maintain an adopted Proposals Map as part of the Local Development Framework. The Proposals Map shows geographically the adopted policies and proposals of Development Plan Documents. The adopted Proposals Map will be revised each time a new DPD is adopted.

**4.2** The current Proposals Map is based on the Proposals Map originally published with the Huntingdonshire Local Plan 1995. It was considered clearer to illustrate designations that are no longer in effect by modifying the Local Plan Proposals Map. The Development Plan also includes saved Minerals and Waste Policies which are illustrated geographically on the Minerals and Waste Saved Policies Proposals Map Insets. These maps are available on the <u>Council's Website</u>.

**4.3** The following maps identify the allocations made by the action plan. Please be aware that these maps will only be to scale if printed at 100%.



Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. HDC 100022322





Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. HDC 100022322

#### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

### Glossary

#### Adoption

The point at which the final agreed version of a document comes fully into use.

#### Affordable Housing

Housing available at a significant discount below market levels so as to be affordable to householders who cannot either rent or purchase property that meets their needs on the open market. It can include social-rented housing and intermediate housing. It is defined in Planning Policy Statement 3: 'Housing'.

#### Amenity

A positive element or elements contributing to the overall character or enjoyment of an area. For example, open land, trees, historic buildings and the inter-relationship between them, or less tangible factors such as tranquility.

#### Annual Monitoring Report (AMR)

Document produced each year to report on progress in producing the *Local Development Framework* and implementing its policies.

#### Areas of Strategic Green Space Enhancement

Areas which have been identified as having opportunities to expand and create strategic green space.

#### **Biodiversity**

The whole variety of life on earth. It includes all species of plants and animals, their genetic variation and the ecosystems of which they are a part.

#### Brownfield

Previously developed land (PDL). In the sequential approach this is preferable to greenfield land. Previously developed land is that which is or was occupied by a permanent structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings), and associated fixed surface infrastructure. The definition includes the curtilage of the development. Previously developed land may occur in both built-up and rural settings. A precise definition is included in Planning Policy Statement 3 'Housing'.

#### Community Infrastructure

Facilities available for use by the community that provide for the health, welfare, social, educational, leisure, recreational and cultural needs of the community. Examples include village halls, doctors' surgeries, pubs, churches and children's play areas. It may also include areas of informal open space and sports facilities.

#### **Comparison Floorspace**

Shops retailing items not obtained on a frequent basis. These include clothing, footwear, household and recreational goods.

#### **Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO)**

The power given to the Local Authority to acquire land for redevelopment which may include development by private developers.

#### **Conservation Area**

A designated area of special architectural and/or historical interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. It is a recognition of the value of a group of buildings and their surroundings and the need to protect not just individual buildings but the character of the area as a whole.

#### **Convenience Floorspace**

Shops retailing everyday essential items, including food, drinks, newspapers/magazines and confectionery.

#### **Core Strategy**

The main document in the *Local Development Framework*. It is a *Development Plan Document* containing the overall vision, objectives, strategy and key policies for managing development in Huntingdonshire.

#### **Development Plan**

The documents which together provide the main point of reference when considering planning proposals as defined in legislation.

#### **Development Plan Documents**

A document containing local planning policies or proposals which form part of the *Development Plan,* which has been subject to independent examination.

#### **European Sites**

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

Consist of Special Protection Areas (SPAs), Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), RAMSAR sites and sites on draft lists for protection as outlined in Regulation 10 of the Habitats Regulations 1994.

#### Examination

Independent inquiry into the soundness of a draft *Development Plan Document* chaired by an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State, whose recommendations are binding.

#### Greenfield

Land which has not been developed before. Applies to most sites outside built-up areas.

#### **Green Infrastructure**

The network of protected sites, nature reserves, green spaces (including local parks, sports grounds, cemeteries, school grounds, allotments, commons and historic parks and gardens) woodlands (including Ancient Woodlands) and green-way links. It offers opportunities to provide for a number of functions, including recreation and wildlife as well as landscape enhancement.

#### **Green corridors**

Linear wildlife and public access corridors that link areas of green infrastructure and green spaces with each other and to settlements, and which also link into the wider countryside.

#### Green spaces

Publicly accessible spaces, including local parks, sports grounds, cemeteries, school grounds, allotments, commons and historic parks and gardens.

#### Habitat

The natural home or environment of a plant or animal.

#### Infrastructure

A collective term for services such as roads, electricity, sewerage, water, education and health facilities.

#### Local Development Document

The collective term for policy documents that are part of the *LDF*, including *Development Plan Documents, Supplementary Planning Documents* and the *Statement of Community Involvement*.

#### Local Development Framework (LDF)

The collective term for the group of documents including *Local Development Documents*, the Local Development Scheme and Annual Monitoring Reports.

#### Local Development Scheme

Sets out the Council's programme for preparing and reviewing *Local Development Documents*.

#### Mitigation measures

These are measures requested/ carried out in order to limit the damage by a particular development/ activity.

#### Open Space and Recreational Land

Open space within settlements includes parks, village greens, play areas, sports pitches, undeveloped plots, semi-natural areas and substantial private gardens. Outside built-up areas this includes parks, sports pitches and allotments.

#### Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPG)/ Planning Policy Statements (PPS)

Central Government produce Planning Policy Guidance Notes, to be replaced by Planning Policy Statements which direct planning in the country.

#### Previously Developed Land (PDL)

(See definition for Brownfield)

#### **Regional Spatial Strategies (RSS)**

Plan covering the East of England as a whole, and setting out strategic policies and proposals for managing land-use change.

#### **Registered Social Landlords**

These are independent housing organisations registered with the Housing Corporation under the Housing Act 1996. Most are housing associations, but there are also trusts, co-operatives and companies.

#### Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

#### Sequential Approach

A planning principle that seeks to identify, allocate or develop certain types or locations of land before others. For example, brownfield sites before greenfield sites, or town centre retail sites before out-of-centre sites. In terms of employment a sequential approach would favour an employment use over mixed use and mixed use over non-employment uses.

#### Social rented

Social Rented Housing is housing available to rent at below market levels. Lower rents are possible because the Government subsidises local authorities and registered social landlords in order to meet local affordable housing needs.

#### **Spatial Planning**

Spatial planning goes beyond traditional land use planning. It brings together and integrates policies for the development and use of land with other policies and programmes which influence the nature of places and how they function. This will include policies which can impact on land use, for example, by influencing the demands on or needs for development, but which are not capable of being delivered solely or mainly through the granting of planning permission and may be delivered through other means.

#### Stakeholders

Groups, individuals or organisations which may be affected by or have a key interest in a development proposal or planning policy. They may often be experts in their field or represent the views of many people.

#### Statement of Community Involvement

Document setting out the Council's approach to involving the community in preparing planning documents and making significant development control decisions.

#### **Statement of Compliance**

A report or statement issued by the local planning authority explaining how they have complied with the Town and Country Planning Regulations 2004 and their Statement of Community Involvement during consultation on Local Development Documents.

#### Statutory Development Plan

The Development Plan for an area which has been taken to statutory adoption. In other words, it has been through all the formal stages and has been approved by the relevant Government office and adopted by the Council.

#### **Statutory Organisations**

Organisations the Local Authority has to consult with at consultation stages of the Local Development Framework.

#### Strategic Green Space

These are areas of green space that serve a wider population than just the District, for example Paxton Pits and The Great Fen.

#### Submission

Point at which a draft *Development Plan Document* (or the draft *Statement of Community Involvement*) is submitted to the Secretary of State for examination.

#### Supplementary Planning Documents

Provides additional guidance on the interpretation or application of policies and proposals in a *Development Plan Document*.

#### Sustainable Development

In broad terms this means development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. The Government has set out five guiding principles for sustainable development in its strategy "Securing the future - UK Government strategy for sustainable development". The five guiding principles, to be achieved simultaneously, are: Living within environmental limits; Ensuring a strong healthy and just society; Achieving a sustainable economy; Promoting good governance; and Using sound science responsibly.

#### Sustainable Drainage System

Previously known as Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems, these cover a range of approaches to surface water drainage management including source control measures such as rainwater recycling and drainage, infiltration devices to allow water to soak into the ground, vegetated features that hold and drain water downhill mimicking natural drainage patterns, filter drains and porous pavements to allow rainwater and

Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdon West Area Action Plan: Adopted 2011

run-off to infiltrate into permeable material below ground and provide storage if needed and basins and ponds to hold excess water after rain and allow controlled discharge that avoids flooding.

#### Sustainability Appraisal (SA)/ Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires Local Development Documents to be prepared with a view to contributing to the achievement of sustainable development. Sustainability appraisal is a systematic appraisal process. The purpose of sustainability appraisal is to appraise the social, environmental and economic effects of the strategies and policies in a Local Development Document from the outset of the preparation process. This will ensure that decisions are made that accord with sustainable principles.

#### Tenure

Refers to the way in which a property is held e.g. freehold, leasehold, shared equity or rented.

#### **Use Class Orders**

Planning regulations outlining a schedule of uses to which a given premises or building can be put. Some changes of use require planning permission.

#### **Vitality and Viability**

In terms of retailing, vitality is the capacity of a centre to grow or to develop its level of commercial activity. Viability is the capacity of a centre to achieve the commercial success necessary to sustain the existence of the centre.

#### Zero carbon building

A building with net carbon emissions of zero over a typical year. This can be measured in different ways relating to cost, energy or carbon emissions. Reference should be made to the national Code for Sustainable Homes.